Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: October 22, 2023 REVISED: January 31, 2024 ACCEPTED: March 1, 2024 PUBLISHED: April 5, 2024

Positivity from Cosmological Correlators

Daniel Green,^a Yiwen Huang,^a Chia-Hsien Shen^{a,b,c} and Daniel Baumann^{b,c,d}

^aDepartment of Physics, University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, CA 92093, U.S.A.

- ^bDepartment of Physics, National Taiwan University, Taipei 10617, Taiwan
- ^cLeung Center for Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics,
- Taipei 10617, Taiwan

^dInstitute of Physics, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, 1098 XH, The Netherlands

E-mail: drgreen@physics.ucsd.edu, yih003@ucsd.edu, chshen@phys.ntu.edu.tw, D.D.Baumann@uva.nl

ABSTRACT: Effective field theories in flat space and in anti-de Sitter space are constrained by causality and unitarity, often in the form of positivity bounds. Similar bounds have been harder to demonstrate in cosmological backgrounds, where the roles of unitarity and causality are more obscure. Fortunately, the expansion of the universe ensures that late-time cosmological correlators are effectively classical and the role of unitarity is played by classical statistical inequalities. For multi-field inflation, the resulting positivity constraints have long been known in terms of the Suyama-Yamaguchi inequality. In this paper, we demonstrate that similar statistical bounds imply nontrivial constraints for massive fields in the early universe. We show that any real anomalous dimensions for principal series fields in de Sitter space must be positive. We also derive a limit on the amplitude of particular oscillatory signals from inflation, including those arising in cosmological collider physics. Finally, we demonstrate that these constraints manifest themselves directly in the two-point statistics of matter and galaxies that will be measured in upcoming surveys.

KEYWORDS: Cosmological models, de Sitter space, Early Universe Particle Physics, Space-Time Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2310.02490



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Positivity in cosmological correlators	3
	2.1 Suyama-Yamaguchi and its generalizations	4
	2.2 Orthogonal bispectra decomposition	6
3	Applications to the early universe	8
	3.1 Soft limits and OPEs	8
	3.2 Anomalous dimensions in de Sitter	9
	3.3 Signals from the cosmological collider	13
4	Positivity in galaxy surveys	16
	4.1 Review of scale-dependent bias	16
	4.2 Positivity and the galaxy power spectrum	17
5	Conclusions	19
Α	Relation to in-in correlators	20
в	Positivity of two-point functions	22

1 Introduction

Observables in cosmological spacetimes are far less understood than their counterparts in asymptotically flat or anti-de Sitter spaces. A central challenge in cosmology is the lack of a non-dynamical boundary on which to anchor nonperturbative observables [1, 2]. Furthermore, even on a fixed background, cosmological correlators of quantum fields lack an explicit time variable in which causality and unitarity are usually defined. As a result, it is an open challenge to define the nonperturbative characteristics of well-behaved cosmic observables [3].

For quantum field theory on a pure de Sitter (dS) background, the isometries act on fields as if they were operators in a Euclidean conformal field theory (CFT) on the future boundary of the spacetime [4]. Late-time correlators are therefore subject to a familiar set of Ward identities that strongly constrain their functional form. Yet, for theories containing sufficiently massive (principal series) fields, the scaling dimensions of operators are necessarily complex and thus will not obey that same constraints as in a conventional unitary CFT [5]. Defining the allowed space of operators is not only conceptually important, but the dimensions and OPE coefficients of the operators also appear directly in the observable properties of the primordial density fluctuations [6–15].

A common strategy for constraining the form of physical theories in cosmology is to study their dynamics on small scales where cosmological backgrounds are well-described by their flat-space limit. Microcausality and scattering experiments in this limit are well defined and constrain the microscopic Lagrangian [16, 17]. The implications for inflationary observables can then be derived by direct computations [18–23]. This strategy has been taken further in the "cosmological boostrap" [24], where the cosmological correlators can be determined from the scattering amplitudes and analyticity.

The focus on scattering experiments, however, does have its limitations in at least two regards. First, it doesn't constrain the cosmological dynamics directly. Instead, we have to extrapolate the cosmological consequences from the Lagrangian or amplitudes. This limits our ability to infer the outcome of perturbative calculations in cosmology, which have been the source of much confusion in their own right [25, 26]. Second, inflationary backgrounds break Lorentz boosts and/or the dS isometries [18, 27]. We therefore lose the symmetries that play a crucial role in most AdS and flat-space examples (although there has been some recent progress without these assumptions [28–32]). Naturally, we would like to know if there are alternative strategies for understanding the constraints from causality and unitarity directly on cosmological observables.

One general feature of cosmological correlators is that they are described by classical statistics [33–37]. This is intuitively clear as the measurement of macroscopic objects like galaxies should not depend on quantum mechanics. At a technical level, it is also a consequence of the freeze-out of any light field [38, 39], as quantum effects are proportional to the decaying mode. Given that classical probabilities are manifestly positive, these observations imply some basic statistical constraints such as the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and positivity¹ of the Fisher information matrix.

Statistical constraints of this kind have been derived for the amplitudes of the threeand four-point functions in the squeezed and collapsed limits, in the form of the Suyama-Yamaguchi (SY) inequality [40]. The bounds require that the trispectrum amplitude exceeds the square of the bispectrum amplitude, which arises at tree level from the form of exchange diagrams involving light fields [41–43]. Yet, it remains unclear to what extent these inequalities actually carry information about inflationary models²—after all, the bounds are true of any random process regardless of its dynamical origin.

Not all inflationary four-point functions are manifestly positive. Oscillatory behavior is known to occur in many situations of interest including the exchange of massive fields [14], rapid mixing between fields [46], chemical potentials [47], and time-dependent interactions [48]. Statistical bounds typically require four-point functions to be positive, at least in specific limits, which is not obviously the case in these examples. We therefore expect that these models are subject to more subtle constraints to avoid obvious pathologies. It is for this reason that there is non-trivial content in the classical statistical bounds, as it provides a minimum requirement of positivity for these correlators. Ultimately, we expect that these results are a reflection of yet to be derived fundamental constraints on the dynamics of fields in inflationary backgrounds.

In this paper, we will explore information-theoretical constraints on models generating oscillatory bispectra and trispectra. While the approach is a generalization of the proof of the SY inequality [49], the implications for the early universe are remarkably different. For

¹In this paper, the use of "positivity bound" will refer to any quantity that is bounded to be positive. For the Fisher matrix, this is equivalent to the absence of negative norm states / negative probability, which might also be interpreted as a consequence of unitarity.

²While the bounds hold in all examples, they may appear to be violated in uncontrolled limits of specific models [44] or in individual loop diagrams [45].

massive (principal series) fields in de Sitter space, positivity of the Fisher matrix forbids negative (real) anomalous dimensions. There are only a few direct calculations of these anomalous dimensions [50, 51] and the constraint on the sign is hardly apparent from Feynman diagrams. Importantly, the Fisher information is positive without any assumptions about symmetries and the same bounds therefore apply to models of inflation without the conformallike symmetries of de Sitter space. There one finds that any enhanced oscillatory signal must come together with a larger non-oscillatory contribution that breaks conformal invariance.

The results derived in this paper arise directly at the level of cosmological observables, including the galaxy power spectra. We show how most of our bounds can be derived within the consistency of the matter and galaxy two-point statistics. Additionally, consistency of the edge cases implies an interesting upper bound on the number density of galaxies.

Outline. This paper is organized as follows: in section 2, we derive positivity bounds on the soft limits of inflationary correlators. In section 3, we apply these bounds to fields in de Sitter space and inflation. In section 4, we show how the same bounds arise in the statistics of galaxies. We conclude in section 5. Two appendices describe the connection between our classical bounds and quantum-mechanical correlators.

2 Positivity in cosmological correlators

Throughout this paper, we will examine the space of allowed cosmological correlators in the limit where they follow from classical statistics. Specifically, bounds on the early universe are derived from constraints on observable adiabatic fluctuations, $\zeta(\vec{k})$, in the superhorizon limit, $k \ll aH$. In this regime, their statistics are necessarily classical and time-independent. As a result, ζ and any derived quantity³ ("operator") $\mathbb{P}(\vec{k})$ will obey the *Cauchy-Schwartz inequality*

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k})\zeta(-\vec{k})\rangle' \langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \ge |\langle \zeta(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle'|^2, \qquad (2.1)$$

where the prime on the expectation value means that a delta-function has been dropped. Of course, this inequality easily generalizes to any number of operators \mathbb{P}_i .

At first sight, the positivity constraint derived from the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality might seem trivial. After all, this must hold for any statistical quantity and appears to be independent of the dynamics of the early universe. However, the fact that cosmic observables freeze out and become classical is a nontrivial statement about the evolution of the universe, which is often not manifest in the perturbative expressions for cosmological correlators. For example, the all-orders proof of the conservation of ζ [52, 53] is highly technical within the usual in-in framework [54, 55]. By using these all-orders results, we will find simple constraints on the physics of the early universe that are surprisingly challenging to see directly (see appendix A for additional details).

In this section, we will review how classical statistics constrain the form of inflationary correlators. We will re-derive constraints on non-Gaussianity induced by light fields (the SY inequality) and then generalize the technique to more general types of non-Gaussian statistics. We will apply these general bounds to specific models in section 3.

³To avoid confusion later, we will use \mathbb{P} for statistical quantities defined in terms of the late-time observable ζ , while reserving \mathcal{O} for quantum-mechanical operators related to fields during inflation.

2.1 Suyama-Yamaguchi and its generalizations

In the presence of multiple massless fields, the adiabatic scalar fluctuations ζ are a local nonlinear function of these additional fields [56–58]. The associated non-Gaussianity is of the "local type" [59, 60]:

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3) \rangle' = \frac{6}{5} f_{\rm NL}^{\rm local} \left(P(k_1)P(k_2) + P(k_1)P(k_3) + P(k_2)P(k_3) \right), \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3)\zeta(\vec{k}_4) \rangle' = \tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm local} \left(P(k_1)P(k_3)P(|\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2|) + {\rm perms} \right),$$
 (2.3)

where $P(k) \equiv \langle \zeta(\vec{k})\zeta(-\vec{k}) \rangle'$ is the power spectrum, $k \equiv |\vec{k}|$, and $\langle \ldots \rangle = \langle \ldots \rangle' (2\pi)^3 \delta_D(\sum \vec{k}_i)$. The trispectrum contains a sum over 12 terms. The amplitudes of the bispectrum and trispectrum obey the SY inequality, $\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm local} > (\frac{6}{5} f_{\rm NL}^{\rm local})^2$ [40].

A proof of the SY inequality [49] (see also [8, 43]) follows directly from the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality (2.1). First, we define the operator

$$\mathbb{P}(\vec{k}) \equiv \frac{6\pi^2}{p_{\text{max}}^3} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})}{P(p)} \,, \tag{2.4}$$

where the integration runs over $p \in [0, p_{\max}]$. The correlations between ζ and \mathbb{P} can then be written as

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \frac{6\pi^2}{p_{\max}^3} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k})\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p})\rangle'}{P(p)} \,, \tag{2.5}$$

$$\langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \frac{36\pi^4}{p_{\rm max}^6} \int \frac{{\rm d}^3 p \,{\rm d}^3 p'}{(2\pi)^6} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}\,')\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p}\,')\rangle'}{P(p)P(p')} \,.$$
(2.6)

We see that the integrands are given by the bispectrum and trispectrum of ζ . Assuming local non-Gaussianity, and taking $p_{\text{max}} \gg k$, we can perform the integrals to get

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \to \frac{12}{5} f_{\mathrm{NL}}^{\mathrm{local}} P(k) ,$$
 (2.7)

$$\langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \to 4\tau_{\mathrm{NL}}^{\mathrm{local}}P(k) + \frac{12\pi^2}{p_{\mathrm{max}}^3},$$
(2.8)

where the second term in (2.8) arises from the Gaussian four-point function. The Cauchy-Schwartz inequality (2.1) then implies

$$P(k)\left(4\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm local}P(k) + \frac{12\pi^2}{p_{\rm max}^3}\right) \ge \left(\frac{12}{5}f_{\rm NL}^{\rm local}P(k)\right)^2.$$
(2.9)

Given that $k \ll p_{\text{max}}$, we can neglect the Gaussian term on the left-hand side to find the well-known result [40]

$$\tau_{\rm NL}^{\rm local} \ge \left(\frac{6}{5} f_{\rm NL}^{\rm local}\right)^2.$$
(2.10)

This tells us that the power spectrum of \mathbb{P} is positive and bounded from below by its cross-correlation with ζ .

The SY inequality is easily generalized to non-Gaussian correlators arising from the exchange of light fields during inflation, with masses in the range $0 < m^2 < \frac{9}{4}H^2$ (complementary series). These models, often called *quasi-single-field inflation* (QSFI) [41], yield complicated shapes of non-Gaussianity that simplify in the soft limits. Specifically, the squeezed limit of the bispectrum and the collapsed limit of the trispectrum are

$$\lim_{k_1 \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3) \rangle'}{P(k_1)P(k_2)} = \frac{12}{5} f_{\rm NL} \left(\frac{k_1}{k_2}\right)^{\Delta} , \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\lim_{|\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2| \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3)\zeta(\vec{k}_4) \rangle'}{P(k_1)P(k_3)P(|\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2|)} = 4\tau_{\rm NL} \left(\frac{|\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2|^2}{k_1k_3}\right)^{\Delta}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where the scaling parameter Δ is determined by the mass of the light field

$$\Delta \equiv \frac{3}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{9}{4} - \frac{m^2}{H^2}}.$$
(2.13)

Using the operator \mathbb{P} defined in (2.4), the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality (2.1) then implies

$$P(k)\left(\frac{36\tau_{\rm NL}}{(3-\Delta)^2}\left(\frac{k}{p_{\rm max}}\right)^{2\Delta}P(k) + \frac{12\pi^2}{p_{\rm max}^3}\right) \ge \left(\frac{36f_{\rm NL}}{5(3-\Delta)}\left(\frac{k}{p_{\rm max}}\right)^{\Delta}P(k)\right)^2.$$
(2.14)

For $\Delta < 3/2$, we can again take $p_{\text{max}} \gg k$ to find

$$\tau_{\rm NL} \ge \left(\frac{6}{5}f_{\rm NL}\right)^2 \,. \tag{2.15}$$

It is important to note that we cannot extend this bound to $\Delta \geq 3/2$, because we then can no longer neglect the Gaussian term.

For particles with larger masses, $m^2 > \frac{9}{4}H^2$ (principal series), the scaling dimensions are complex

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} \pm i\sqrt{\frac{m^2}{H^2} - \frac{9}{4}} \equiv \frac{3}{2} \pm i\nu.$$
(2.16)

The two scaling parameters are complex conjugates, as needed to achieve real solutions for the correlations of ζ . However, the resulting contribution to the trispectrum does not come with a fixed sign. For example, ref. [14] found the following trispectrum from the exchange of a massive scalar:

$$\lim_{|\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2| \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3)\zeta(\vec{k}_4) \rangle'}{P(k_1)^{3/2}P(k_3)^{3/2}} = 4\tau_{\rm NL} \left(\kappa(\nu) \left(\frac{|\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2|^2}{k_1k_3}\right)^{i\nu} + \text{c.c.}\right),$$
(2.17)

where $\kappa(\nu)$ is a complex-valued function of ν . While this trispectrum is not positive, it does not violate the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality because $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \geq 3/2$ and the Gaussian term in (2.14) is dominant. However, this example nevertheless points to a potential issue when $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) < 3/2$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\Delta) \neq 0$, that we will explore in detail in section 3.

2.2 Orthogonal bispectra decomposition

Inflationary models produce bispectra of many possible forms. These are typically defined in terms of an amplitude and a shape function:

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3)\rangle = f_{\rm NL}B(k_1,k_2,k_3) (2\pi)^3 \delta_D(\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2 + \vec{k}_3), \qquad (2.18)$$

where we assumed invariance under rotations and spatial translations, and fixed the overall normalization as $B(k_*, k_*, k_*) \equiv 1$ at an arbitrary reference scale k_* . Momentum conservation implies $k_3 = |\vec{k}_1 - \vec{k}_2|$, so we will use $B(k_1, k_2, k_3)$ and $B(\vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2)$ interchangeably. Often the space of possible bispectra is parameterized in terms of orthogonal basis functions $B_i(k_1, k_2, k_3)$ (e.g. [61]), with orthogonality defined by the following inner product

$$B_i \cdot B_j = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 k_1 \,\mathrm{d}^3 k_2 \,\mathrm{d}^3 k_3}{(2\pi)^9} \frac{B_i(k_1, k_2, k_3) B_j(k_1, k_2, k_3)}{P(k_1) P(k_2) P(k_3)} (2\pi)^3 \delta_D(\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2 + \vec{k}_3) \,. \tag{2.19}$$

This is a physically meaningful definition [60], as the Fisher matrix for the amplitudes $f_{\rm NL}^{(i)}$ and $f_{\rm NL}^{(j)}$ is determined by the same inner product, $F_{ij} \propto B_i \cdot B_j$. We will make use of the template decomposition by defining a basis of *bispectrum*-

We will make use of the template decomposition by defining a basis of *bispectrum-weighted operators*

$$\mathbb{P}_{i}(\vec{k}) \equiv \frac{6\pi^{2}}{p_{\max}^{3}} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{B_{i}(\vec{p},\vec{k}-\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})}{P(p)P(k)P(|\vec{k}-\vec{p}|)} \,.$$
(2.20)

The correlators of \mathbb{P}_i and ζ are then determined by direct substitution. It is important to recall that the two-point functions of \mathbb{P}_i contain both Gaussian and non-Gaussian contributions

$$\langle \mathbb{P}_{i}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{j}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \frac{36\pi^{4}}{p_{\max}^{6}} \left(\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{2B_{i}(\vec{p},\vec{k}-\vec{p})B_{j}(-\vec{p},-\vec{k}+\vec{p})}{P(k)^{2}P(p)P(|\vec{k}-\vec{p}|)} + \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p\mathrm{d}^{3}p'}{(2\pi)^{6}} \frac{B_{i}(\vec{p},\vec{k}-\vec{p})B_{j}(\vec{p}\,',-\vec{k}-\vec{p}\,')\langle\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}\,')\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p}\,')\rangle_{c}'}{P(k)^{2}P(p)P(p')P(|\vec{k}-\vec{p}|)P(|\vec{k}+\vec{p}\,'|)} \right),$$

$$(2.21)$$

where $\langle \cdots \rangle_c$ denotes the connected correlator.

At this stage, it may seem that there is no particular advantage to use the bispectrumweighted operator. The utility is that it allows us to decompose the bispectrum and trispectrum into a basis of functions, each of which must be positive, much like the Källén-Lehmann spectral representation. Specifically, with N templates, we have an $(N + 1) \times (N + 1)$ matrix,

$$\mathbb{F} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \langle \zeta(\vec{k})\zeta(-\vec{k})\rangle' & \langle \zeta(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{1}(-\vec{k})\rangle' & \dots & \langle \zeta(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{N}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \\ \langle \mathbb{P}_{1}(\vec{k})\zeta(-\vec{k})\rangle' & \langle \mathbb{P}_{1}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{1}(-\vec{k})\rangle' & \dots & \langle \mathbb{P}_{1}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{N}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \langle \mathbb{P}_{N}(\vec{k})\zeta(-\vec{k})\rangle' & \langle \mathbb{P}_{N}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{1}(-\vec{k})\rangle' & \dots & \langle \mathbb{P}_{N}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}_{N}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.22)

which is positive definite. This construction is qualitatively similar to bounds on EFTs [62, 63] and CFTs [64]. We denoted this matrix by \mathbb{F} because it plays the role of the Fisher information matrix for the amplitudes of these operators in the underlying map, at least in the limit where cosmic variance is the dominant source of noise [65].

As a concrete illustration, suppose we want to isolate the contributions to the soft limits of cosmological correlators with a specific scaling behavior (mass) and angular dependence (spin). Expanding around the squeezed limit of the bispectrum and the collapsed limit of the trispectrum, we have

$$\lim_{k_1 \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3) \rangle'}{P(k_1)P(k_2)} = f_{\rm NL} \sum_{\ell} c_{\ell} \left(\frac{k_1}{k_2}\right)^{\Delta_{\ell}} P_{\ell}(\hat{k}_1 \cdot \hat{k}_2) , \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\lim_{k_I \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k}_1)\zeta(\vec{k}_2)\zeta(\vec{k}_3)\zeta(\vec{k}_4) \rangle_c'}{P(k_1)P(k_3)P(k_I)} = \tau_{\rm NL} \sum_{\ell,\ell'} d_{\ell,\ell'} \frac{P_{\ell}(\hat{k}_1 \cdot \hat{k}_I)P_{\ell'}(\hat{k}_3 \cdot \hat{k}_I)}{k_1^{\Delta_{\ell}} k_3^{\Delta_{\ell'}} k_I^{-\Delta_{\ell} - \Delta_{\ell'}'}} + \cdots, \qquad (2.24)$$

where $P_{\ell}(\cos \theta)$ is the ℓ -th Legendre polynomial⁴ and $k_I \equiv |\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2|$. For simplicity, we have assumed that a single Δ_{ℓ} dominates for each ℓ .

It is useful to introduce a basis of bispectrum templates

$$B_{\ell}(\vec{p}, \vec{k} - \vec{p}) = \left(\frac{k}{p}\right)^{\Delta_{\ell}} P(p)P(k)P_{\ell}(\hat{k} \cdot \hat{p}), \qquad (2.25)$$

to define the operators $\mathbb{P}_{\ell}(\vec{k})$ using (2.20). Since the integrals will be dominated by $p \gg k$, we are only sensitive to the bispectrum template in the soft limit. It is then straightforward to calculate the elements of the matrix \mathbb{F} in this basis

$$\langle \zeta(\vec{k}) \mathbb{P}_{\ell}(-\vec{k}) \rangle' = \frac{f_{\rm NL}}{2\ell+1} P(k) \frac{3c_{\ell}}{3-2\Delta_{\ell}} \left(\frac{k}{p_{\rm max}}\right)^{2\Delta_{\ell}} , \qquad (2.26)$$

$$\langle \mathbb{P}_{\ell}(\vec{k}) \mathbb{P}_{\ell'}(-\vec{k}) \rangle' = \frac{6\pi^2}{p_{\max}^3} \frac{3}{3 - 2\Delta_{\ell}} \left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\Delta_{\ell}} \frac{\delta_{\ell,\ell'}}{2\ell + 1} \\ + \frac{\tau_{\mathrm{NL}} P(k)}{(2\ell + 1)(2\ell' + 1)} \left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\Delta_{\ell} + 2\Delta_{\ell'}'} \frac{9d_{\ell,\ell'}}{(3 - 2\Delta_{\ell})(3 - 2\Delta_{\ell'}')} .$$

$$(2.27)$$

For $\Delta_{\ell} < 3/2$, we can drop the Gaussian term and conclude that $d_{\ell,\ell'}$ is a positive-definite matrix. Isolating specific terms in the Fisher matrix, one also finds that

$$d_{\ell,\ell} \tau_{\rm NL} \ge c_{\ell}^2 f_{\rm NL}^2 ,$$

$$d_{\ell,\ell} d_{\ell',\ell'} \ge (d_{\ell,\ell'})^2 .$$
(2.28)

In this sense, this decomposition of the trispecturm can be diagonized in terms of a matrix will all positive eigenvalues. This can be generalized to the case where Δ is complex by combining the Δ and Δ^* contributions to c_{ℓ} and $d_{\ell,\ell'}$. We will see the utility of this construction in the next section where it is used to isolate contributions to the trispectrum from particles with different masses and spins.

Naturally, one might hope that the expansion of these correlators using the bispectrumweighted operators could be used as the starting point for a nonperturbative bootstrap in analogy with CFTs [64]. However, this strategy is more limited than for unitary CFTs,

⁴For the exchange of particles with spin, there will be additional contributions that depend also on $\vec{k}_1 \cdot \vec{k}_3$ and the associate Legendre polynomials. The generalization to this case is straightforward and is discussed in section 3.2.

due to the presence of the Gaussian terms which are manifestly positive. Nevertheless, it will be interesting to explore the role of all the minors in the Fisher matrix in this and other applications.

3 Applications to the early universe

The purpose of this section is to demonstrate that the bounds on the positivity of the Fisher information matrix place nontrivial constraints on the dynamics of the early universe. This is somewhat surprising, as one might expect such bounds to be trivial, in the sense that they must be true for any statistical quantity. However, the late-time observables can encode complicated dynamics of the early universe whose amplitudes and signs are not manifest within the usual perturbative formalism. Our focus in this section will be on processes in the early universe that produce trispectra with oscillating signs.

The key results in this section are as follows: scale invariance allows us to classify the long-wavelength behavior of a field in de Sitter or inflation in terms of operators \mathcal{O} with scaling dimensions Δ . In section 3.1, we will show how these operators contribute to the soft limits of cosmological correlators, with oscillatory features occurring when Δ is complex. Normalizing the two-point functions of such operators as

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \equiv k^{2\Delta-3},$$

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \equiv \xi k^{\Delta+\Delta^*-3},$$

$$(3.1)$$

we then find that the bounds of section 2 are only satisfied if

$$\xi \ge 1$$
 or $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \ge \frac{3}{2}$. (3.2)

In section 3.2, we will show that the de Sitter isometries imply that $\xi = 0$ and therefore $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \geq 3/2$ (i.e. principal series operators in de Sitter must have positive real anomalous dimensions). In section 3.3, we will explain how $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) < 3/2$ and $\xi \geq 1$ can arise in inflationary models with broken boost symmetry.

These results are derived under the assumption that we can couple the observable density fluctuation ζ to \mathcal{O}_{Δ} and \mathcal{O}_{Δ^*} such that it is the lowest dimension operator contributing to collapsed limit of the trispectrum. We discuss in what sense these bounds can be relaxed when \mathcal{O}_{Δ} only appears in conjunction with a complementary series field. This approach follows a similar stategy to [66], which bounds use deep inelastic scaling of a specified operator coupled to a probe as a tool to constrain the signs of anomalous dimensions of operators appearing the OPE. Here it is the weak coupling to inflaton that is playing the role of the probe of the principal series fields.

3.1 Soft limits and OPEs

The SY inequality and its generalizations are designed to isolate the squeezed limit of the bispectrum and the collapsed limit of the trispectrum. Assuming that the fluctuations are produced from freeze-out at horizon crossing, these limits capture the influence of superhorizon (long-wavelength) modes on the statistics of the short modes as they freeze out. We will describe this effect in terms of an operator product expansion (OPE).

In the limit where ζ is scale-invariant, the dimension of ζ is zero and the OPE takes the form [67],

$$\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p}) = P(p) \left[1 + \sum_{\Delta} c_{\Delta} p^{-\Delta} \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k}) + \cdots \right], \qquad (3.3)$$

where $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})$ is a scalar operator of dimension Δ and the ellipses include operators with spin. We will be particularly interested in the cases where Δ and c_{Δ} are complex. In terms of this expansion,⁵ the soft limits of the bispectrum and trispectrum are [68]

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{k})\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p})\rangle'}{P(p)} = \sum_{\Delta} c_{\Delta} p^{-\Delta} \langle \zeta(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-\vec{k})\rangle', \qquad (3.4)$$

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}')\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p}')\rangle'}{P(p)P(p')} = \sum_{\Delta,\Delta'} c_{\Delta}c'_{\Delta} p^{-\Delta} p'^{-\Delta'} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta'}(-\vec{k})\rangle'.$$
(3.5)

If this were a unitary CFT in flat space, then Δ and c_{Δ} would be real, and positivity of (3.5) would follow from the definition of the OPE. In contrast, when Δ is complex, this expression is not manifestly positive. However, this does not necessarily violate unitarity, since there is no state-operator correspondence in de Sitter [69], despite the similarity to conventional CFTs in terms of the symmetry algebra. See appendix B for further discussion.

In single-field inflation, we can choose a gauge where the only degrees of freedom are associated with the metric. As a result, the operators \mathcal{O}_{Δ} must then be related to curvatures of the metric and therefore have $\Delta \geq 2$. The resulting constraints on the structure of cosmological correlators are known as the "single-field consistency condition" and have been well-explored from numerous perspectives [10, 43, 70–76]. We will instead be interested in operators with $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \leq 3/2$, which violate the single-field consistency condition.

3.2 Anomalous dimensions in de Sitter

Our first application is the case of de Sitter-invariant fields that are weakly coupled to the adiabatic perturbation ζ through an interaction like $\lambda \dot{\zeta}^2 \sigma$, where σ is a local scalar operator in the full theory, such that in the superhorizon limit $\sigma \supset \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}$. Importantly, since ζ is real, $\lambda \sigma$ is also real, even though \mathcal{O}_{Δ} may be complex. Nevertheless, when $\lambda = 0$ and $\dot{H}/H^2 \rightarrow 0$, the correlators of σ , and hence \mathcal{O}_{Δ} , are subject to the Ward identities imposed by the dS isometries.

The operators \mathcal{O}_{Δ} transform under the dS isometries as primary operators of dimension Δ :

$$\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}) \to (1 + \vec{x} \cdot \vec{\partial} + \Delta) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}),$$
 (3.6)

$$\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}) \to \left[1 - 2\Delta \,\vec{x} \cdot \vec{b} + x^2 \,\vec{b} \cdot \vec{\partial} - 2(\vec{b} \cdot \vec{x}) \,\vec{x} \cdot \vec{\partial}\right] \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}) \,, \tag{3.7}$$

where \vec{b} is an arbitrary real vector. The operators \mathcal{O}_{Δ} do not correspond to individual fundamental fields, but do form a basis of operators in the long-wavelength effective description [39]. Applying the Ward identities to the two-point function one finds

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta'}(\vec{y})\rangle = C_{\Delta}\delta_{\Delta,\Delta'}|\vec{x}-\vec{y}|^{-\Delta} + D_{\Delta}\delta_{\Delta+\Delta',3}\delta_D(\vec{x}-\vec{y}), \qquad (3.8)$$

⁵We are assuming a weak coupling between the principal series fields and the inflaton, and therefore, this (asymptotic) expansion is controlled by perturbation theory in the usual sense.

where the second term is a contact term that is allowed when $\Delta + \Delta' = 3$. In the free theory, principal series fields have complex Δ , with $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) = 3/2$, such that $\Delta + \Delta^* = 3$ and we can have the contact term for $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta} \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*} \rangle$. Interactions, however, can lead to $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq 3/2$ and (3.8) becomes

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*}(\vec{y})\rangle = 0, \qquad \operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq \frac{3}{2}.$$
 (3.9)

This result will play a central role in our positivity bounds. It also implies that there are no unitary states associated to operators with $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq 3/2$ [77, 78]. It is nonetheless easy to find examples with $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) > 3/2$, such as composite operators arising from $\phi^2(\vec{x})$ (see appendix B). This is not a contradiction, as there is no state-operator correspondence in de Sitter.

Massive fields. We will first focus on the case of scalar operators whose dimensions in a free theory would be $\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} \pm i\nu$, with $\nu > 0$. When we introduce interactions, the fields can acquire both real and imaginary anomalous dimensions [50, 51, 69, 79, 80]. The imaginary part is equivalent to a shift in the mass (since it simply shifts the value of ν). We will therefore isolate the real anomalous dimension and define the dimensions of the operators, $\mathcal{O}_{\pm} \equiv \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{\pm}}$, as

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} + \gamma \pm i\nu \,, \tag{3.10}$$

where $\gamma \neq 0$ is real. These dimensions obey $\Delta_{+} = \Delta_{-}^{*}$ to ensure that the correlators of ζ are real. Suppose that this operator is coupled to ζ , such that the trispectrum in the collapsed limit takes the form

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}\,')\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p}\,')\rangle_c'}{P(p)P(p')} = \frac{k^{2\gamma}}{(pp')^{3/2+\gamma}} \left[c_+^2 \left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{i\nu} + c_-^2 \left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{-i\nu} \right], \quad (3.11)$$

where we have defined the coupling to \mathcal{O}_{\pm} in terms of a (quasi)-OPE

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \zeta(\vec{p}) \zeta(\vec{k} - \vec{p}) \supset P(p) \Big(c_+ \, p^{-\Delta_+} \mathcal{O}_+(\vec{k}) + c_- \, p^{-\Delta_-} \mathcal{O}_-(\vec{k}) \Big) \,, \tag{3.12}$$

with the two-point functions normalized as $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\pm}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\pm}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = k^{2\Delta_{\pm}-3}$. This normalization is somewhat unconventional, but will greatly simplify our calculations. It is important that the field, in the absence of the coupling to ζ , is dS-invariant, such that $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{+}}\mathcal{O}_{\Delta_{-}}\rangle = 0$.

Using (2.4) to define \mathbb{P} , we require that

$$\langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \frac{36\pi^4}{p_{\max}^6} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p \,\mathrm{d}^3 p'}{(2\pi)^6} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}\,')\zeta(-\vec{k}-\vec{p}\,')\rangle'}{P(p)P(p')} \ge 0.$$
(3.13)

Inserting (3.11) and adding the Gaussian contribution, we get a generalization of (2.14):

$$P(k)\left(\frac{2}{p_{\max}^{3}}\operatorname{Re}\left[\frac{9c_{+}^{2}}{\left(\frac{3}{2}-\gamma-i\nu\right)^{2}}\left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\gamma+i2\nu}\right]+\frac{12\pi^{2}}{p_{\max}^{3}}\right)\geq0.$$
(3.14)

Crucially, because $\nu \neq 0$, the first term in this expression is sinusoidal and does *not* have a definite sign as a function of k/p_{max} . Hence, we must have $\gamma \geq 0$, so that this term never

dominates the expression. Specifically, taking $\gamma < 0$ and $k \to 0$ violates positivity of the power spectrum and therefore only $\gamma \ge 0$ is consistent:

$$\langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \xrightarrow{\gamma<0} \left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\gamma} \cos\left[2\nu\log(k/p_{\max})\right] \ngeq 0 \implies \gamma \ge 0.$$
 (3.15)

In other words, unitarity (positive probabilities) requires that any real anomalous dimensions for principal series fields are non-negative.

Positivity of anomalous dimensions has been found in examples by direct computation [50, 51] and argued for more generally based on the Källén-Lehmann representation [69, 78–80]. Yet, these results depend on technical details about the nature of quantum physics in de Sitter space. Here, we see that the same result holds beyond de Sitter.

Adding light fields. One mechanism for generating anomalous dimensions is through loops of light fields in the complementary series $(0 < m^2 < \frac{9}{4}H^2)$ that interact with the principal series fields [50, 51]. However, the presence of these additional fields can introduce new contributions to the trispectrum that can potentially relax the bounds on anomalous dimensions. Specifically, combining the results of (3.14) and (2.14), we require that

$$\frac{2}{p_{\max}^{3}} \operatorname{Re}\left[\frac{9c_{+}^{2}}{\left(\frac{3}{2} - \gamma - i\nu\right)^{2}} \left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\gamma + i2\nu}\right] + \frac{36\tau_{\operatorname{NL}}}{(3 - \Delta)^{2}} \left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\Delta} P(k) \ge -\frac{12\pi^{2}}{p_{\max}^{3}}, \quad (3.16)$$

where Δ is the real dimension of the complementary series field. If $\Delta \leq 3/2 + \gamma$, positivity can be satisfied as long as $\tau_{\rm NL}$ is sufficiently large. Naturally, one might think that if $\gamma < 0$ is always tied to a coupling to complementary series field, this would not be a stringent constraint. However, we will now show that the implications of positivity are more subtle.

The functional form of the trispectrum contributions in (3.16) for the principal and complementary series fields is quite different. As a result, one might suspect that we can isolate the individual contributions using the right bispectrum-weighted operators. With this in mind, we will consider the following bispectrum template

$$B(\vec{p}, \vec{k} - \vec{p}) = P(p)P(k) \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(\frac{p}{k_*}\right)^{\gamma + i\nu}\right], \qquad (3.17)$$

for some fixed reference scale k_* . Using this template to define \mathbb{P} via (2.20), we then have

$$\langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \left(\frac{6\pi^2}{p_{\max}^3}\right)^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p \,\mathrm{d}^3 p'}{(2\pi)^6} \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(\frac{p}{k_*}\right)^{\gamma+i\nu}\right] \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(\frac{p'}{k_*}\right)^{\gamma+i\nu}\right] \times \frac{P(p)P(p')}{P(|\vec{k}-\vec{p}|)P(|\vec{k}+\vec{p}'|)} \left[2G+F+4\tau_{\mathrm{NL}}\left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{\Delta}P(k)\right)\right],$$
(3.18)

where we assumed $\Delta = 3/2 + \gamma$ for the complementary series field and defined

$$F \equiv \frac{k^{2\gamma}}{(pp')^{3/2+\gamma}} \left(c_+^2 \left(\frac{k^2}{pp'} \right)^{i\nu} + c_-^2 \left(\frac{k^2}{pp'} \right)^{-i\nu} \right) , \qquad (3.19)$$

$$G \equiv (2\pi)^{3} \delta_{D} (\vec{p} + \vec{p}') \,. \tag{3.20}$$

These integrals are straightforward, but messy to evaluate. However, when $\nu \gg 1$, the results simplify and yield

$$\frac{2}{p_{\max}^3} \operatorname{Re}\left[c_+^2 \left(\frac{k}{k_*}\right)^{2\gamma + i2\nu} + \frac{9\pi^2}{3 + 2\gamma} \left(\frac{p_{\max}}{k_*}\right)^{2\gamma}\right] + O\left(\nu^{-1}\tau_{\mathrm{NL}}\right) \ge 0.$$
(3.21)

In the high-mass limit, $\nu \gg 1$, we again find that $\gamma < 0$ is forbidden⁶ by the positivity of the Fisher information matrix, even when we include $\tau_{\rm NL} > 0$ to make the trispectrum positive in the sense of (3.16). Specifically, the bispectrum template suppresses this contribution, although it does not project it out entirely.⁷ Nevertheless, we see that adding complementary series fields does not offer a trivial resolution to the apparent violation of unitarity associated with $\gamma < 0$, although this may be possible for $\nu = \mathcal{O}(1)$. This example also highlights the utility of the template decomposition of \mathbb{P} to isolate the different kinds of operators contributing to the trispectrum.

Particles with spin. Every quantum field theory comes with a tower of operators of different spins. These operators are essential for the description of correlators in terms of an OPE and many other applications. In AdS/CFT, these operators are particularly important as their anomalous dimensions and OPE coefficients in the CFT are in one-to-one correspondence to the dynamics in (and of) the bulk spacetime [81, 82]. Naturally, this suggests that understanding these operators could have similar implications for understanding the dynamics of dS. In addition, particles with spin offer a unique signal of interest for cosmological collider physics [14, 83]. It therefore is important to extend the results of the previous section to operators with spin s > 0.

In a CFT, the two-point functions of operators with spin s are [84]

$$\langle [\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}]^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s}(x) [\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}]_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_s}(0) \rangle = C_{s,\Delta} \left(\frac{I^{(\mu_1}(\nu_1(x) \cdots I^{\mu_s}) \nu_s)(x)}{x^{2\Delta}} - \text{ traces} \right), \qquad (3.22)$$

where $I^{\mu}{}_{\nu}(x) \equiv \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} - 2x^{\mu}x_{\nu}/x^2$ and the scaling dimensions (for a free field) are

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} \pm \sqrt{\left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 - \frac{m^2}{H^2}}.$$
(3.23)

When Δ_{\pm} is real, the two-point functions for physical operators must be positive, which leads to the unitarity constraint $m^2 = 0$ or $m^2 \ge s(s-1)H^2$ [85, 86]. For $m^2 > (s-\frac{1}{2})^2 H^2$, we have $\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} \pm i\nu$, which allows a delta-function solution to $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta} \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*} \rangle$ as in (3.8).

The exchange of spinning operators leads to the following trispectrum [14]:

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k} - \vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}')\zeta(-\vec{k} - \vec{p}')\rangle_c'}{P(p)P(p')} = \frac{k^{2\gamma}}{(pp')^{3/2+\gamma}} \left[S_+ c_+^2 \left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{i\nu} + S_- c_-^2 \left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{-i\nu} \right],\tag{3.24}$$

⁶For $\Delta < 3 + \gamma$, this depends on the order of limits of $\nu \to \infty$ and $k \to 0$. Here we are taking $\nu \to \infty$ at finite k.

⁷It is possible we could isolate the principal series term with a different choice of bispectrum template.

which is a generalization of (3.11) that includes an angular dependence through the functions S_{\pm} . The latter can be written as

$$S_{\pm}(\hat{k}, \hat{p}, \hat{p}') \equiv \sum_{m=-s}^{s} e^{im(\psi - \psi')} P_s^m(\cos \theta) P_s^m(\cos \theta') a_{\pm}^{(s,m)}, \qquad (3.25)$$

where $P_s^m(x)$ are associated Legendre polynomials, with $\cos \theta \equiv \hat{k} \cdot \hat{p}$, $\cos \theta' \equiv \hat{k} \cdot \hat{p}'$, and $\psi - \psi'$ being the angle between \vec{p} and \vec{p}' in the plane orthogonal to \vec{k} . In principle, one can find all the coefficients $a_{\pm}^{(s,m)}$, as a function of Δ_{\pm} , by Fourier transforming (3.22). For the tree-level exchange of particles with spin, these solutions are known [14].

Using orthogonality of the Legendre polynomials, we can isolate any given term in the sum over helicities. For example, for m = 0, we can use (2.27) and (2.28) to find

$$\operatorname{Re}\left[\frac{3a_{+}^{(s,0)}}{(2s+1)\left(\frac{3}{2}-\gamma-i\nu\right)}c_{+}^{2}\left(\frac{k}{p_{\max}}\right)^{2\gamma+i2\nu}\right]+3\pi^{2}\geq0,\qquad(3.26)$$

which is a generalization of (3.21). This is now identical to the scalar case: when $\gamma < 0$, we can neglect the constant as $k \to 0$. However, the resulting correlator does not satisfy the bound (2.28) and we thus require for consistency that⁸

$$\gamma \ge 0. \tag{3.27}$$

In this sense, there is no meaningful distinction between the bounds on heavy scalars and heavy particles with spin.

3.3 Signals from the cosmological collider

During inflation, the time-dependent background breaks the de Sitter isometries and allows for non-Lorentz-invariant interaction terms [18, 72]. It is then possible to find multi-field models where a field has $\Delta_{\pm} = r \pm i\nu$, with $r \ll 1$ and $\nu > 1$. Such models would have a large non-Gaussian signal with a unique oscillatory shape. In the previous section, we proved that this is impossible in exact de Sitter ($r \geq 3/2$), but we will now identify precisely how this can be evaded within inflationary models. Specifically, we will show that such a feature is possible only if it is accompanied by a larger non-oscillatory contribution to the trispectrum.

A model with $\gamma < 0$. While we may naturally guess that the bounds from dS are weakened in the context of inflation, it is another matter to find specific examples that saturate the weaker bounds. In particular, given the technical challenges in calculating anomalous dimensions via loops, we would like to have a simple example where $\gamma < 0$ unambiguously.

A straightforward mechanism for achieving $\gamma < 0$ is through the kinetic mixing of two massive scalar fields $\sigma_{1,2}$ [46]:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\partial_{\mu} \sigma_{i} \partial^{\mu} \sigma_{i} - m_{i}^{2} \sigma_{i}^{2} \right) + \rho (\dot{\sigma}_{1} \sigma_{2} - \dot{\sigma}_{2} \sigma_{1}), \qquad (3.28)$$

⁸Technically, it only forces the m = 0 component to vanish. However, repeating the analysis for $m \neq 0$, we arrive at the conclusion that $\gamma \geq 0$.

where the parameter $\rho \propto \dot{\phi}$ breaks Lorentz invariance, with $\phi(t)$ being the time-dependent inflaton. The resulting equations of motion are

$$\ddot{\sigma}_1 + 3H\dot{\sigma}_1 + \left(\frac{k^2}{a^2} + m_1^2\right)\sigma_1 + \rho(2\dot{\sigma}_2 + 3H\sigma_2) = 0, \qquad (3.29)$$

$$\ddot{\sigma}_2 + 3H\dot{\sigma}_2 + \left(\frac{k^2}{a^2} + m_2^2\right)\sigma_2 - \rho(2\dot{\sigma}_1 + 3H\sigma_1) = 0.$$
(3.30)

Our primary interest is understanding the allowed values of Δ in the limit $k \to 0$. Writing $\vec{\sigma} = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2) = a(t)^{-\Delta} \vec{v}$, where \vec{v} is a constant vector, the equations of motion for k = 0 and $\dot{H} \to 0$ become

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Delta(\Delta-3)H^2 + m_1^2 & H\rho(-2\Delta+3) \\ H\rho(2\Delta-3) & \Delta(\Delta-3)H^2 + m_2^2 \end{pmatrix} \vec{v} = 0.$$
 (3.31)

Solving this equation is equivalent to finding the values of Δ for which the matrix has a vanishing determinant. The resulting quartic equation has the following four solutions:

$$\Delta_{\pm} = \frac{3}{2} - \sqrt{\frac{9}{4} + a_{\pm}} \quad \text{and} \quad 3 - \Delta_{\pm} , \qquad (3.32)$$

where

$$a_{\pm} \equiv -\frac{1}{2} \frac{m_1^2 + m_2^2 + 4\rho^2}{H^2} \pm 2\sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \frac{\rho^2}{H^2} \left(\frac{m_1^2 + m_2^2 + 2\rho^2}{H^2} - \frac{9}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{16} \frac{(m_1 - m_2)^2}{H^2}}{H^2}}.$$
 (3.33)

Our goal then is to find solutions of the form $\Delta = r + i\nu$, with r < 3/2 and $\nu \neq 0$. Clearly, if a_{\pm} is real, then we will have either $\nu = 0$ or r = 3/2 for $a_{\pm} \ge -9/4$ and $a_{\pm} < -9/4$, respectively. The only regime where $r \neq 0$, but our solutions are complex, is when a_{\pm} is itself complex. This is only possible when

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{m_1^2 + m_2^2 + 2\rho^2}{H^2} + \frac{1}{16}\frac{(m_1 - m_2)^2}{\rho^2} < \frac{9}{4}.$$
(3.34)

There are regimes of parameter space where this inequality is satisfied and the solutions are stable. For example, taking $\rho = H$ and $m_1^2 = m_2^2 = 0.1 H^2$ gives $\Delta_{\pm} = 0.42 \pm i$. On the other hand, notice that taking $m_i^2 \gg \rho^2 \gg H^2$ always implies that $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta_{\pm}) = 3/2$, as one would expect from the redshifting of massive particles in an expanding universe [14].

Positivity bounds. The above example clearly demonstrates that $\gamma < 0$ is allowed if we break the symmetries of de Sitter space. Although we can quantify the conditions for this to occur in the model, we would like to derive a model-independent bound on the amount and type of symmetry breaking needed in any self-consistent example. To do this, we will return to our OPE description.

Let us assume an inflationary model that includes operators \mathcal{O}_{\pm} whose scaling dimensions (in the superhorizon limit) are $\Delta_{\pm} = r \pm i\nu$. Coupling these operators to ζ gives the following trispectrum (in the collapsed limit)

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \frac{\langle \zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k} - \vec{p})\zeta(\vec{p}')\zeta(-\vec{k} - \vec{p}')\rangle'}{P(p)P(p')} = \frac{k^{2r-3}}{(pp')^r} \left(c_+c_-\xi\left(\frac{p}{p'}\right)^{i\nu} + c_+^2\left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{i\nu} + \text{c.c.} \right),$$
(3.35)

where we defined

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_+(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_-(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \frac{\xi}{k^3}k^{\Delta_++\Delta_-} = \xi k^{2r-3}.$$
 (3.36)

Unlike in de Sitter, $\xi \neq 0$ is now allowed because the inflaton defines a preferred slicing and therefore breaks to dS isometries.

We will again define the bispectrum-weighted operator \mathbb{P} using $B(\vec{p}, \vec{k} - \vec{p})$ from (3.17) and replacing $r = 3/2 + \gamma$. We are only interested in the regime $\gamma < 0$ and we can therefore drop the Gaussian contribution and calculate

$$\langle \mathbb{P}(\vec{k})\mathbb{P}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \left(\frac{6\pi^2}{p_{\max}^3}\right)^2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p \,\mathrm{d}^3 p'}{(2\pi)^6} \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(\frac{p}{k_*}\right)^{\gamma+i\nu}\right] \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(\frac{p'}{k_*}\right)^{\gamma+i\nu}\right] \times \\ \times \frac{P(p)P(p')}{P(|\vec{k}-\vec{p}|)P(|-\vec{k}-\vec{p}'|)} \frac{k^{2\gamma}}{(pp')^{3/2+\gamma}} \left(c_+c_-\xi\left(\frac{p}{p'}\right)^{i\nu} + c_+^2\left(\frac{k^2}{pp'}\right)^{i\nu} + \mathrm{c.c.}\right).$$
(3.37)

Taking $\nu \gg 1$ and dropping terms that are suppressed by powers of ν , we find

$$2\frac{|c_{+}|^{2}\xi}{p_{\max}^{3}}\left(\frac{k}{k_{*}}\right)^{2\gamma} + 2\operatorname{Re}\left[\frac{c_{+}^{2}}{p_{\max}^{3}}\left(\frac{k}{k_{*}}\right)^{2\gamma+i2\nu}\right] \ge 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \xi \ge 1.$$
(3.38)

We can think of this bound as the minimal level of conformal-symmetry breaking that is necessary to arrive at r < 3/2 (i.e. $\gamma < 0$).

An example. To satisfy the positivity constraint in (3.38), the amplitudes of the various contributions to the trispectrum must be related. The model in (3.28) gives us a concrete demonstration of how such correlations can arise. Concretely, we recall that the scaling solutions to (3.31) must match onto the full solutions to the mode function, $f_i(\vec{k}, a(t))$, defined by the $\hat{\sigma}_i$ operators

$$\hat{\sigma}_i(\vec{k}, a(t)) = \hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{(i)} f_i(\vec{k}, a(t)) + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.39)$$

where $\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{(i)}$ are annihilation operators. In the limit $k/(aH) \to 0$, the mode functions must reduce to a combination of these solutions,

$$f_i(\vec{k}) = \sum_{\Delta} c_{\Delta}(\vec{v}_{\Delta})_i \frac{k^{\Delta}}{a^{\Delta} k^{3/2}} \,. \tag{3.40}$$

In this way, $f_i(\vec{k})$ contains all the contributions from the scaling operators of the longwavelength solutions, $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})$. However, ζ cannot couple individually to \mathcal{O}_{Δ} ; it can only couple locally to $\sigma_i(\vec{x})$. Since $\vec{\sigma}(\vec{x})$ is a real field, it contributes to the trispectrum via an exchange diagram that is proportional to its power spectrum,

$$\langle \sigma_i(\vec{k})\sigma_i(-\vec{k})\rangle' = |f_i(k,a)|^2 > 0.$$
 (3.41)

We have also verified that our positivity constraints are obeyed for the bispectra and trispectra calculated in the explicit examples of $\gamma < 0$ found in [46]. In both cases, the correlations

needed to satisfy (3.38) occur because the operators $\mathcal{O}_{\pm}(\vec{k})$ are defined in terms of a single pair of creation and annihilation operators $\hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\vec{k}}$ and $\hat{a}_{-\vec{k}}$.

In appendix B, we show that the absence of manifest positivity for dS correlators when $\gamma \neq 0$ requires a failure of a reality condition for the operator in the exchange diagram. Even for $\gamma > 0$, the implication is that loop corrections must spoil these conditions. There is no such issue here, as $\gamma \neq 0$ arises as a solution to the quadratic field equations and reality (and therefore positivity) is manifest via canonical quantization.

4 Positivity in galaxy surveys

In this section, we will show how the positivity bounds on the primordial statistics manifest themselves in the late-time distribution of galaxies. We will see that some of our bounds can be derived directly from the correlations of galaxies and matter. Yet, consistency between the positivity of the primordial and late-time statistics also constrain the physics of galaxy formation.

4.1 Review of scale-dependent bias

Nontrivial squeezed and collapsed limits of the primordial statistics introduces long-range correlations in the distribution of galaxies and other collapsed objects [87] (see also [88–93]). The resulting enhancement of the galaxy power spectrum at long wavelengths, termed *scale-dependent bias*, is one of the key observational tools being used to search for non-Gaussian signals from inflation [94–96]. Following [90], we will briefly review how the primordial correlations are imprinted in this scale-dependent bias.

At linear order, the relationship between the primordial density fluctuations $\zeta(\vec{x})$ and the (fractional) matter overdensity $\delta_m(\vec{x})$ is given by

$$\delta_m(z,\vec{k}) = \frac{k^2 T(k) D(z)}{\Omega_m H^2} \zeta(\vec{k}) \equiv \mathcal{T}(k,z) \zeta(\vec{k}), \qquad (4.1)$$

where z is the redshift, T(k) is the linear transfer function and D(z) is the growth factor.

For our purposes, it is sufficient to assume that the number of collapsed objects is determined by the local gravitational evolution, and hence the local matter density fluctuations. In other words, the number density of galaxies, $n_g(\vec{x})$, is some general function of local composite operators made from $\delta_m(\vec{x})$ and its derivatives [97]. Defining the galaxy overdensity as $\delta_g(\vec{x}) \equiv (n_g(\vec{x}) - \bar{n}_g)/\bar{n}_g$ and expanding it in powers of δ_m , we have the following bias expansion⁹

$$\delta_g(\vec{x}) = b_1 \delta_m(\vec{x}) + b_2 \delta_m^2(\vec{x}) + \dots + \epsilon(\vec{x}), \qquad (4.2)$$

where the parameters b_n are the bias coefficients and $\epsilon(\vec{x})$ is a "stochastic bias" that is uncorrelated with $\delta_m(\vec{x})$ (see e.g. [98] for review). The stochastic bias is required because $n_q(\vec{x})$ is a discrete variable and $\delta_m(\vec{x})$ is continuous.

⁹The bias expansion is likely an asymptotic expansion. We will only need the lowest orders in this expansion which have been shown to be highly accurate descriptions at low-k from comparisons to simulations.

Higher-order operators in the bias expansion encode non-Gaussian statistics in the distribution of galaxies. For example, the operator

$$[\delta_m^2](z,\vec{k}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \,\mathcal{T}(p,z) \mathcal{T}(|\vec{k}-\vec{p}|,z)\zeta(\vec{p})\zeta(\vec{k}-\vec{p}) \tag{4.3}$$

leads to a cross correlation of galaxies and matter $P_{gm}(k) \equiv \langle \delta_g \delta_m \rangle'$ that depends on the primordial bispectrum, while the galaxy power spectrum $P_g(k) \equiv \langle \delta_g \delta_g \rangle'$ contains the primordial trispectrum. As a result, we get

$$P_{gm}(k) \supset b_{\phi} f_{\mathrm{NL}}(kR_{*})^{\Delta} \mathcal{T}(k) P(k) = b_{\phi} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \frac{(kR_{*})^{\Delta}}{\mathcal{T}(k)} P_{m}(k) , \qquad (4.4)$$

$$P_g(k) \supset b_{\phi}^2 \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL} \left(kR_*\right)^{2\Delta} P(k) = \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL} b_{\phi}^2 \frac{(kR_*)^{2\Delta}}{\mathcal{T}(k)^2} P_m(k) + P_{\epsilon}(k) \,, \tag{4.5}$$

where $P_{\epsilon}(k) = \langle \epsilon(\vec{k})\epsilon(-\vec{k}) \rangle'$. The parameter b_{ϕ} is associated with the regulator $R_*^{-1} \sim p_{\max}$ in the integrals over p or p'. In practice, the precise value b_{ϕ} depends on Δ , but also on mass, redshift, and the (unknown) physics of galaxy formation. These details are important for precise experimental constraints on $f_{\rm NL}$ and $\tau_{\rm NL}$, but are unimportant for the positivity of the Fisher information. See e.g. [90], for more details.

For models of inflation with $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) < 3/2$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\Delta) \neq 0$, like those discussed in section 3.3, the cross correlation is purely oscillatory [46]

$$P_{gm}(k) \supset b_{\phi} f_{\rm NL} \left(kR_* \right)^{3/2+\gamma} \cos\left(\nu \log kR_* + \varphi \right) \mathcal{T}(k) P(k) , \qquad (4.6)$$

where we used (3.35) and defined a phase φ which depends $\arg(c_+)$ and on the details of the biasing model. Meanwhile, the galaxy power spectrum receives both oscillatory and non-oscillatory contributions

$$P_g(k) \supset b_{\phi}^2 \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL} \left(kR_*\right)^{3+2\gamma} \left[\xi + \cos\left(2\nu \log kR_* + \varphi'\right)\right] P(k), \qquad (4.7)$$

where the phase φ' is not necessarily the same as φ . The bound $\xi \geq 1$ ensures positivity of the power spectrum as $k \to 0$. This is the same as our bound from the Fisher information in (3.38). Here, we have allowed for the possibility of $f_{\rm NL} \neq 0$ through an additional mixing of ζ and σ via an interaction like $\lambda' \dot{\zeta} \sigma$ (in addition to the existing $\lambda \dot{\zeta}^2 \sigma$ interaction). See [46], for a detailed example.

4.2 Positivity and the galaxy power spectrum

The statistics of galaxies is a hallmark of the kind classical statistical quantity on which our positivity bounds were derived. It is also precisely the observable that will drive future constraints on non-Gaussianity. We would therefore like to understand in what sense our previous bounds could be derived directly from the statistics of galaxies, rather than through our fictitious operators $\mathbb{P}_i(\vec{k})$.

In the late universe, δ_m and δ_g are classical stochastic variables and therefore obey the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality

$$P_m(k)P_g(k) \ge |P_{mg}(k)|^2$$
. (4.8)

Applying this to the conventional scale-dependent bias discussed in the previous subsection, we get

$$b_{\phi}^{2} \left[\left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^{2} \tau_{\rm NL} - f_{\rm NL}^{2} \right] \frac{(kR_{*})^{2\Delta}}{\mathcal{T}(k)^{2}} P_{m}(k) + P_{\epsilon}(k) \ge 0.$$
(4.9)

To isolate the non-Gaussian term, we take the limit $k \to 0$. In this limit, the stochastic term is simply a constant that is well approximated by shot noise, $P_{\epsilon}(k) \approx \bar{n}_g^{-1}$. In contrast, $P_m(k \to 0) \propto k$ and therefore the matter power spectrum itself is suppressed relative to the shot noise. However, the non-Gaussian term is enhanced as $k \to 0$ since $\mathcal{T}(k) \to k^2$ in that limit. Using

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{T}(k)^2} P_m(k) = P(k) \equiv \frac{A_s}{k^3}, \qquad (4.10)$$

we find

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \left(b_{\phi}^2 \left[\left(\frac{5}{6} \right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL} - f_{\rm NL}^2 \right] (kR_*)^{2\Delta} \frac{A_s}{k^3} + \frac{1}{\bar{n}_g} \right) \ge 0.$$
 (4.11)

As a result, just like in the primordial statistics, we find that positivity of the galaxy correlators implies the SY inequality $\tau_{\rm NL} \geq (\frac{6}{5}f_{\rm NL})^2$, if we assume $\Delta < 3/2$.

Interestingly, for $\Delta = 3/2$, we can still derive a bound

$$b_{\phi}^2 R_*^3 \left[\left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL} - f_{\rm NL}^2 \right] A_s \ge -\frac{1}{\bar{n}_g} \,.$$
 (4.12)

At face value, this does not place an interesting constraint on the correlators. However, it must also be true that the correlators of galaxies cannot contain more information than the primordial statistics [65]. For $\Delta = 3/2$, the bound from the initial conditions is

$$\left[\left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^2 \tau_{\rm NL} - f_{\rm NL}^2 \right] A_s \ge -\frac{3\pi^2}{4} \,. \tag{4.13}$$

Requiring the galaxy-based bound not to exceed this bound from the initial conditions then implies that

$$\bar{n}_g \le \frac{4}{3\pi^2} \frac{1}{b_\phi^2 R_*^3} \,. \tag{4.14}$$

This upper-limit on \bar{n}_g makes sense intuitively. We do not expect every region of the characteristic scale of a halo, R_*^3 , to contain a galaxy. This physics expectation roughly translates to $n_g R_*^{-3} < 1$. Nonetheless, the bound (4.14) is a strict requirement that includes the parameters b_{ϕ} and R_* , which set the amplitude of the signal for any $\tau_{\rm NL}$ and $f_{\rm NL}$.

Finally, we can repeat this analysis for the oscillatory bispectra and trispectra. The two-point statistics, $P_{mg}(k)$ and $P_g(k)$, are given by (4.6) and (4.7), respectively. Assuming $\gamma < 0$, so that we can neglect the stochastic term, the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality implies

$$b_{\phi}^{2} \left(\frac{5}{6}\right)^{2} \tau_{\mathrm{NL}} \left(kR_{*}\right)^{3+2\gamma} \left[\xi + \cos\left(2\nu \log kR_{*} + \varphi'\right)\right] P_{m}(k) P(k)$$

$$\geq \left[b_{\phi} f_{\mathrm{NL}} \left(kR_{*}\right)^{3/2+\gamma} \cos\left(\nu \log kR_{*} + \varphi\right)\right]^{2} P_{m}(k) P(k) .$$

$$(4.15)$$

A sufficient condition for satisfying this inequality is

$$\tau_{\rm NL}(\xi \pm 1) \ge \left(\frac{6}{5}f_{\rm NL}\right)^2.$$
(4.16)

As a purely theoretical statement, this implies that, as $k \to 0$, there will be a non-oscillatory contribution to $P_{gg}(k)$ whose amplitude is larger than the oscillatory signal. In practice, observational constraints on non-Gaussianity in the near-term arise from the regime at finite k where

$$P_g(k) \approx \left[b_1^2 + 2b_1 b_\phi \frac{f_{\rm NL}}{\mathcal{T}(k)} \left(kR_* \right)^{3/2+\gamma} \cos\left(\nu \log kR_* + \varphi \right) \right] P_m(k) \,. \tag{4.17}$$

As a result, it is entirely possible that the oscillatory contribution to the scale-dependent bias will be the dominant observational signal in the galaxy power spectrum at small but finite k. This simply reflects the fact that the signal-to-noise of the bispectrum is larger than that of the trispectrum when $\tau_{\rm NL} = O(f_{\rm NL}^2)$.

5 Conclusions

The nature of quantum field theory and quantum gravity in accelerating cosmologies have long been a source of confusion. Without a clear definition of nonperturbative observables, progress has relied on perturbative calculations. Unfortunately, these calculations are themselves technically challenging and have led to much confusion [26]. Straightforward constraints on dynamics in these spacetimes is an important tool in the path towards understanding the quantum nature of our universe. Intuition suggests that on small scales, flat-space consistency conditions will still apply. Yet, deriving strict bounds in the cosmological setting has proven challenging.

Fortunately, long-wavelength fluctuations in these accelerating spacetimes are subject to familiar symmetries. Both de Sitter space and inflationary background possess an SO(d, 1) symmetry that is either linearly or non-linearly realized [73, 74]. Organizing observables according to these symmetries has driven process in both the cosmological bootstrap [24] and EFT approaches to cosmic observables [26].

Yet, despite these symmetries, the behavior of fields in de Sitter space has long been known to evade the usual constraints of a unitary CFT. This has limited the utility of the dS/CFT correspondence [70, 99] as a tool for understanding de Sitter space. Cosmic observables on a fixed time-slice are Euclidean and thus not required to obey the traditional unitarity constraints. Naturally, one is left to ask how the rules of unitarity manifest themselves [15, 100, 101], if at all [102, 103], in these backgrounds. Furthermore, constraints on the dynamics of scalar fields that are known to hold in flat space [23] and in AdS [104] have remained hidden in cosmic observables. We expect many of these bounds to hold in cosmology as well, but this has not been demonstrated.

In this paper, we explored some very simple constraints on fields in both de Sitter and inflationary backgrounds using classical statistics. While these bounds will necessarily be satisfied by any realistic measurement, they imply nontrivial constraints on the dynamics of fields in the early universe. Concretely, there can be no negative (real) anomalous dimensions for heavy fields in quasi-de Sitter spacetimes. Furthermore, the bounds specify restrictive conditions on the correlation functions of fields with negative anomalous dimensions in inflationary backgrounds with a preferred time-slicing.

Our results are similar in some ways to the bounds on the stress-tensor correlators from conformal collider physics [105–107]. While it may seem self-evident that a physical detector will only measure positive energies, the implication for the properties of CFTs are not. One might hope that a more nuanced analysis of the positivity of the Fisher information might similarly yield more insights into the physics of the early universe.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Tim Cohen, Yi Guo, Jiashu Han, Akhil Premkumar, Kamran Salehi Vaziri and Ben Wallisch for helpful discussions. We also thank Tim Cohen for comments on the draft. DB is supported by a VIDI grant of the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) and a Yushan Professorship at National Taiwan University (NTU) funded by the Ministry of Education (MOE), Taiwan. DG and YH are supported by the US Department of Energy under grant DE-SC0009919. CHS is supported by the Ministry of Education, Taiwan (MOE Yushan Young Scholar grant NTU-112V1039).

A Relation to in-in correlators

The freeze-out of superhorizon fluctuations ensures that cosmological correlators obey classical statistics and the host of inequalities which this implies. In the main text, we investigated the implications of these classical constraints on cosmological correlators. Yet, given how simple and general these results are, one might imagine that they are easy to derive directly within the in-in formalism. In this appendix, we will explore to what degree these results are already encoded in perturbation theory.

In-in formalism. The general definition of an in-in correlator is [54, 55]

$$\langle Q(t) \rangle = \left\langle \bar{T} \exp\left[i \int_{-\infty^+}^t \mathrm{d}t' \, H_{\mathrm{int}}\left(t'\right)\right] Q_{\mathrm{int}}(t) \, T \exp\left[-i \int_{-\infty^-}^t \mathrm{d}t' \, H_{\mathrm{int}}\left(t'\right)\right] \right\rangle, \qquad (A.1)$$

where (\overline{T}) T denotes (anti-)time ordering and $-\infty^{\pm} \equiv -\infty(1 \pm i\epsilon)$. The operator Q(t) is defined in term of fields at a single time t, but is not necessarily local in space. The $i\epsilon$ prescription of the time integral defines the interacting vacuum, just like in flat space.

For illustrative purposes, we will consider the composite $Q \equiv \zeta^2(\vec{x})$. Its Fourier transform is

$$[\zeta^2](\vec{k}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} \,\zeta(\vec{p}) \zeta(\vec{k} - \vec{p})\,, \tag{A.2}$$

and the two-point function is given by

$$\langle [\zeta^2](\vec{k})[\zeta^2](-\vec{k})\rangle' = \langle U^{-1}(t, -\infty^+)[\zeta^2_{\text{int}}](\vec{k})[\zeta^2_{\text{int}}](-\vec{k}) U(t, -\infty^-)\rangle',$$
 (A.3)

where we have introduced

$$U(t_f, t_i) \equiv T \exp\left[-i \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt' H_{\text{int}}(t')\right].$$
(A.4)

It is known to all orders in perturbation theory that ζ freezes out and becomes classical. As a result, the correlator (A.3) is necessarily positive. We would like to understand to what degree this is obvious by standard manipulations.

Positivity of in-in correlators. Positivity of this correlator is most apparent if we set $\epsilon = 0$, so that $-\infty^{\pm} \to -\infty$. The operator $U(t) \equiv U(t, -\infty)$ is then unitary and we can write (A.3) as

$$\left< [\zeta^2](\vec{k}) [\zeta^2](-\vec{k}) \right>' = \left< U^{-1}(t) [\zeta^2_{\text{int}}](\vec{k}) U(t) U^{-1}(t) [\zeta^2_{\text{int}}](-\vec{k}) U(t) \right>'.$$
(A.5)

Using momentum conservation and the reality condition $\zeta^*(\vec{k}) = \zeta(-\vec{k})$, we get

$$\left\langle \left[\zeta^2\right](\vec{k})\left[\zeta^2\right](-\vec{k})\right\rangle' = \left\langle \left|Q(\vec{k})\right|^2\right\rangle',\tag{A.6}$$

where $Q(\vec{k}) \equiv U^{-1}(t)[\zeta_{int}^2](\vec{k}) U(t)$ is a real operator. Furthermore, since Q_{int} is defined entirely in terms of free fields, this correlator is completely determined by Wick contractions and is positive. Unfortunately, most of the time integrals that define $U(t, -\infty)$ do not converge and therefore although the expression is manifestly positive, it is not useful without regulating the early-time (or high-energy) behavior.

The bad behavior at early times is the result of not being in the interacting vacuum. This is resolved by restoring $\epsilon \neq 0$, as is standard in QFT. Naively, we would simply repeat the above argument, however we see that it fails because U is not manifestly unitary,

$$U(t, -\infty(1-i\epsilon))U^{-1}(t, -\infty(1+i\epsilon)) \neq 1.$$
 (A.7)

For local non-Gaussianity, the contribution to the correlator is dominated by late times where $\epsilon = 0$ can be used reliably. More generally, physics at horizon crossing does matter, as does the $i\epsilon$ precision and thus our positivity constraints are not trivial consequences of the usual in-in expressions. In fact, existing calculations of the anomalous dimensions for \mathcal{O} suggests that the results are related to optical theorem in the flat space limit [50, 51]. In this sense, it is likely that some care regarding the $i\epsilon$ prescription is needed to reproduce the bounds derived in this paper.

Complete set of states. An alternative strategy is to assume that we can insert of a complete set of states,

$$1 = \sum_{n,\vec{p}} |n,\vec{p}\rangle \langle n,\vec{p}|, \qquad (A.8)$$

where n is some internal quantum number and \vec{p} is the momentum. We then have¹⁰

$$\langle [\zeta^2](\vec{k})[\zeta^2](\vec{k}') \rangle = \sum_{n,\vec{p}} \langle [\zeta^2](\vec{k}) | n, \vec{p} \rangle \langle n, \vec{p} | [\zeta^2](\vec{k}') \rangle$$

= $(2\pi)^3 \delta_D(\vec{k} + \vec{k}') \sum_n \langle [\zeta^2](\vec{k}) | n, \vec{k} \rangle \langle n, \vec{k} | [\zeta^2](-\vec{k}) \rangle$
= $(2\pi)^3 \delta_D(\vec{k} + \vec{k}') \sum_n |\langle [\zeta^2](\vec{k}) | n, \vec{k} \rangle|^2 .$ (A.9)

¹⁰A similar argument was used in [43] to prove that $\tau_{\rm NL} > (6f_{\rm NL}/5)^2$ for general masses, assuming that the sum is dominated by single-particle states.

This expression can be used to reproduces the positivity bounds we derived in the main text. However, given that a nonperturbative definition of the complete basis of states has not been demonstrated in context of inflation, it leaves possible loopholes that do not apply to the bounds in this paper.

B Positivity of two-point functions

The fact that the two-point functions of \mathcal{O}_{\pm} , or their contributions to the trispectrum, are not positive when $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq 3/2$ is a bit surprising. After all, these operators arise as the long-wavelength description of real scalar fields and the power spectra of real operators are positive. Specifically, if $\mathcal{O}(\vec{x})$ is a real operator, then the reality condition in Fourier space implies that $\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(\vec{k}) = \mathcal{O}(-\vec{k})$ and therefore

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \langle |\mathcal{O}(\vec{k})|^2 \rangle, \tag{B.1}$$

which is the average of a manifestly positive quantity. In this appendix, we will explore the consequences of $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq 3/2$ for the operators \mathcal{O}_{\pm} in consistent theories. We confirm this behavior in a simple example in dS where such operators must arise.

Two-point negativity. When the scaling dimension Δ is real, it is reasonable to demand that $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x})$ is a real operator and its two-point statistics are positive. However, when Δ is complex, \mathcal{O}_{Δ} is also complex and therefore

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-\vec{k})\rangle' \neq \langle |\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})|^2 \rangle.$$
 (B.2)

Importantly, this means that the power spectrum of \mathcal{O}_{Δ} does not have a fixed sign.

When Δ is complex, there always exists a second operator with dimension Δ^* . It is therefore natural to assume that these operators obey $\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}_{\Delta}(\vec{k}) = \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*}(-\vec{k})$, in which case it should be true that

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})\mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*}(-\vec{k})\rangle' = \langle |\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})|^2 \rangle \ge 0.$$
 (B.3)

This is true for free principal series fields in dS. However, for complex Δ , with $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq 3/2$, conformal invariance demands that

$$\langle |\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})|^2 \rangle = 0. \tag{B.4}$$

On its own, this might appear to imply the existence of null states, but it is crucial that there is no state operator correspondence, and therefore

$$\langle |\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k})|^2 \rangle \neq \langle \Delta |\Delta \rangle.$$
 (B.5)

Yet, it does imply the surprising outcome that

$$\left\langle \left(\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k}) + \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^{*}}(\vec{k}) \right) \left(\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-\vec{k}) + \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^{*}}(-\vec{k}) \right) \right\rangle' = \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{k}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(-\vec{k}) \right\rangle' + \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^{*}}(\vec{k}) \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^{*}}(-\vec{k}) \right\rangle' \\ \propto \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{k}{aH}\right)^{2\Delta}, \qquad (B.6)$$

which is *not* positive definite for complex Δ . Hence, if Δ is complex and $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) \neq 3/2$, then $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x}) + \mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*}(\vec{x})$ is not real, or equivalently, $\mathcal{O}_{\Delta^*}^{\dagger}(\vec{x}) \neq \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\vec{x})$. Negative two-point statistics on their own is not an issue, but it does require the failure of these kinds of reality conditions.

Of course, in the main text, we showed that $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) < 3/2$ is inconsistent with the required positivity of cosmology correlators and thus are forbidden. In contrast, $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) > 3/2$ also have negative two-point statistics, but these operators necessarily arise in physical theories. As a result, our bounds are not equivalent to the condition that these two-point statistics must be positive.

An example. For illustration, consider a principal series field producing operators φ_{\pm} with dimensions $\Delta_{\pm} = 3/2 \pm i\nu$. We now look at the two-point statistics of the composite operators $[\varphi_{\pm}^2]$ with dimensions $2\Delta_{\pm}$. In the free theory, the power spectra of these operators are determined by Wick contractions and yield

$$\langle [\varphi_{\pm}^{2}](\vec{k})[\varphi_{\pm}^{2}](-\vec{k})\rangle' = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}p}{(2\pi)^{3}} p^{\pm 2i\nu} |\vec{k} - \vec{p}|^{\pm 2i\nu} = \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} \frac{2^{-4\mp 2i\nu}\pi\Gamma\left[-\frac{3}{2}\mp i2\nu\right]\Gamma\left[\frac{3}{2}\pm i\nu\right]}{4\Gamma[2\pi\nu]\Gamma[\mp i\nu]^{2}} k^{3\pm 4i\nu} .$$
 (B.7)

We see that the result is both nonzero and *not* positive. The principal series field itself, on the other hand, has a positive two-point function by virtue of the contact term

$$\langle \varphi_+(\vec{k})\varphi_-(-\vec{k})\rangle' = C, \qquad (B.8)$$

which is allowed because $\operatorname{Re}(\Delta) = 3/2$ and thus this contact term is consistent with conformal invariance. However, there is no such term for the composite operator,

$$\langle [\varphi_+^2](\vec{k})[\varphi_-^2](-\vec{k})\rangle' = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} C^2 = 0,$$
 (B.9)

where we used dimensional regularization to regulate the power-law divergence. These operators are physical and yet have negative two-point statistics. We conclude that our bounds are not trivially related to positivity of the two-point statistics in de Sitter space.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- E. Witten, Quantum gravity in de Sitter space, in the proceedings of the Strings 2001: International Conference, Mumbai, India, January 05–10 (2001) [hep-th/0106109] [INSPIRE].
- [2] R. Bousso, Cosmology and the S-matrix, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 064024 [hep-th/0412197]
 [INSPIRE].
- [3] R. Flauger et al., Snowmass White Paper: Cosmology at the Theory Frontier, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2203.07629] [INSPIRE].

- [4] M. Spradlin, A. Strominger and A. Volovich, Les Houches lectures on de Sitter space, in the proceedings of the Les Houches Summer School: Session 76: Euro Summer School on Unity of Fundamental Physics: Gravity, Gauge Theory and Strings, Les Houches, France, July 30 – August 31 (2001) [hep-th/0110007] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Strominger, Inflation and the dS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 11 (2001) 049 [hep-th/0110087] [INSPIRE].
- [6] I. Antoniadis, P.O. Mazur and E. Mottola, Conformal Invariance, Dark Energy, and CMB Non-Gaussianity, JCAP 09 (2012) 024 [arXiv:1103.4164] [INSPIRE].
- [7] P. Creminelli, Conformal invariance of scalar perturbations in inflation, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 041302 [arXiv:1108.0874] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, Operator Product Expansion of Inflationary Correlators and Conformal Symmetry of de Sitter, Nucl. Phys. B 864 (2012) 492 [arXiv:1205.1523] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, *Holography for inflation using conformal* perturbation theory, *JHEP* **04** (2013) 047 [arXiv:1211.4550] [INSPIRE].
- [10] K. Schalm, G. Shiu and T. van der Aalst, Consistency condition for inflation from (broken) conformal symmetry, JCAP 03 (2013) 005 [arXiv:1211.2157] [INSPIRE].
- [11] I. Mata, S. Raju and S. Trivedi, CMB from CFT, JHEP 07 (2013) 015 [arXiv:1211.5482]
 [INSPIRE].
- [12] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Constraints from Conformal Symmetry on the Three Point Scalar Correlator in Inflation, JHEP 04 (2015) 061 [arXiv:1410.2606] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Ghosh, N. Kundu, S. Raju and S.P. Trivedi, Conformal Invariance and the Four Point Scalar Correlator in Slow-Roll Inflation, JHEP 07 (2014) 011 [arXiv:1401.1426] [INSPIRE].
- [14] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, Cosmological Collider Physics, arXiv:1503.08043 [INSPIRE].
- [15] N. Arkani-Hamed, D. Baumann, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Inflationary Correlators from Symmetries and Singularities, JHEP 04 (2020) 105 [arXiv:1811.00024] [INSPIRE].
- [16] T.N. Pham and T.N. Truong, Evaluation of the Derivative Quartic Terms of the Meson Chiral Lagrangian From Forward Dispersion Relation, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 3027 [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Adams et al., Causality, analyticity and an IR obstruction to UV completion, JHEP 10 (2006) 014 [hep-th/0602178] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Baumann and D. Green, Equilateral Non-Gaussianity and New Physics on the Horizon, JCAP 09 (2011) 014 [arXiv:1102.5343] [INSPIRE].
- [19] D. Baumann, D. Green, H. Lee and R.A. Porto, Signs of Analyticity in Single-Field Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 023523 [arXiv:1502.07304] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Grall and S. Melville, Inflation in motion: unitarity constraints in effective field theories with (spontaneously) broken Lorentz symmetry, JCAP 09 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2005.02366] [INSPIRE].
- [21] D. Green, Y. Huang and C.-H. Shen, Inflationary Adler conditions, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 043534 [arXiv:2208.14544] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Freytsis, S. Kumar, G.N. Remmen and N.L. Rodd, Multifield positivity bounds for inflation, JHEP 09 (2023) 041 [arXiv:2210.10791] [INSPIRE].

- [23] C. de Rham et al., Snowmass White Paper: UV Constraints on IR Physics, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2203.06805] [INSPIRE].
- [24] D. Baumann et al., Snowmass White Paper: The Cosmological Bootstrap, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2203.08121] [INSPIRE].
- [25] E.T. Akhmedov, U. Moschella and F.K. Popov, Characters of different secular effects in various patches of de Sitter space, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 086009 [arXiv:1901.07293] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Green, EFT for de Sitter Space, arXiv:2210.05820 [INSPIRE].
- [27] C. Cheung et al., The Effective Field Theory of Inflation, JHEP 03 (2008) 014 [arXiv:0709.0293] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D. Baumann, D. Green and T. Hartman, Dynamical Constraints on RG Flows and Cosmology, JHEP 12 (2019) 134 [arXiv:1906.10226] [INSPIRE].
- [29] E. Pajer, D. Stefanyszyn and J. Supel, The Boostless Bootstrap: Amplitudes without Lorentz boosts, JHEP 12 (2020) 198 [Erratum ibid. 04 (2022) 023] [arXiv:2007.00027] [INSPIRE].
- [30] E. Pajer, Building a Boostless Bootstrap for the Bispectrum, JCAP **01** (2021) 023 [arXiv:2010.12818] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Grall and S. Melville, Positivity bounds without boosts: New constraints on low energy effective field theories from the UV, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) L121301 [arXiv:2102.05683]
 [INSPIRE].
- [32] P. Creminelli, O. Janssen and L. Senatore, *Positivity bounds on effective field theories with spontaneously broken Lorentz invariance*, *JHEP* **09** (2022) 201 [arXiv:2207.14224] [INSPIRE].
- [33] L.P. Grishchuk and Y.V. Sidorov, Squeezed quantum states of relic gravitons and primordial density fluctuations, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 3413 [INSPIRE].
- [34] D.S. Salopek and J.R. Bond, Nonlinear evolution of long wavelength metric fluctuations in inflationary models, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 3936 [INSPIRE].
- [35] J. Maldacena, A model with cosmological Bell inequalities, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016) 10 [arXiv:1508.01082] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J. Martin and V. Vennin, Quantum Discord of Cosmic Inflation: Can we Show that CMB Anisotropies are of Quantum-Mechanical Origin?, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 023505 [arXiv:1510.04038] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D. Green and R.A. Porto, Signals of a Quantum Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 251302
 [arXiv:2001.09149] [INSPIRE].
- [38] R. de Putter and O. Doré, In search of an observational quantum signature of the primordial perturbations in slow-roll and ultraslow-roll inflation, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 043511 [arXiv:1905.01394] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T. Cohen and D. Green, Soft de Sitter Effective Theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 041 [arXiv:2007.03693] [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Suyama and M. Yamaguchi, Non-Gaussianity in the modulated reheating scenario, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 023505 [arXiv:0709.2545] [INSPIRE].
- [41] X. Chen and Y. Wang, Quasi-Single Field Inflation and Non-Gaussianities, JCAP 04 (2010)
 027 [arXiv:0911.3380] [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Baumann and D. Green, Signatures of Supersymmetry from the Early Universe, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 103520 [arXiv:1109.0292] [INSPIRE].

- [43] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, On Soft Limits of Inflationary Correlation Functions, JCAP 11 (2012) 047 [arXiv:1204.4207] [INSPIRE].
- [44] T. Suyama and F. Takahashi, Non-Gaussianity from Symmetry, JCAP 09 (2008) 007 [arXiv:0804.0425] [INSPIRE].
- [45] N.S. Sugiyama, E. Komatsu and T. Futamase, Non-Gaussianity Consistency Relation for Multi-field Inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 251301 [arXiv:1101.3636] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M. McAneny and A.K. Ridgway, New Shapes of Primordial Non-Gaussianity from Quasi-Single Field Inflation with Multiple Isocurvatons, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 043534
 [arXiv:1903.11607] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A. Bodas, S. Kumar and R. Sundrum, The Scalar Chemical Potential in Cosmological Collider Physics, JHEP 02 (2021) 079 [arXiv:2010.04727] [INSPIRE].
- [48] L. Leblond and E. Pajer, Resonant Trispectrum and a Dozen More Primordial N-point functions, JCAP 01 (2011) 035 [arXiv:1010.4565] [INSPIRE].
- [49] K.M. Smith, M. LoVerde and M. Zaldarriaga, A universal bound on N-point correlations from inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 191301 [arXiv:1108.1805] [INSPIRE].
- [50] D. Marolf and I.A. Morrison, The IR stability of de Sitter: Loop corrections to scalar propagators, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 105032 [arXiv:1006.0035] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D. Marolf and I.A. Morrison, The IR stability of de Sitter QFT: results at all orders, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 044040 [arXiv:1010.5327] [INSPIRE].
- [52] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, Symmetries and Loops in Inflation, JHEP 02 (2013)
 151 [arXiv:1210.7792] [INSPIRE].
- [53] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, The constancy of ζ in single-clock Inflation at all loops, JHEP 09 (2013) 148 [arXiv:1210.6048] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Weinberg, Quantum contributions to cosmological correlations, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 043514 [hep-th/0506236] [INSPIRE].
- [55] S. Weinberg, Quantum contributions to cosmological correlations. II. Can these corrections become large?, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 023508 [hep-th/0605244] [INSPIRE].
- [56] D.H. Lyth, C. Ungarelli and D. Wands, The primordial density perturbation in the curvaton scenario, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 023503 [astro-ph/0208055] [INSPIRE].
- [57] M. Zaldarriaga, Non-Gaussianities in models with a varying inflaton decay rate, Phys. Rev. D
 69 (2004) 043508 [astro-ph/0306006] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Sasaki, J. Valiviita and D. Wands, Non-Gaussianity of the primordial perturbation in the curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 103003 [astro-ph/0607627] [INSPIRE].
- [59] E. Komatsu and D.N. Spergel, Acoustic signatures in the primary microwave background bispectrum, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 063002 [astro-ph/0005036] [INSPIRE].
- [60] D. Babich, P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, The shape of non-Gaussianities, JCAP 08 (2004) 009 [astro-ph/0405356] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J.R. Fergusson, M. Liguori and E.P.S. Shellard, The CMB Bispectrum, JCAP 12 (2012) 032 [arXiv:1006.1642] [INSPIRE].
- [62] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-T. Huang, The EFT-Hedron, JHEP 05 (2021) 259 [arXiv:2012.15849] [INSPIRE].

- [63] B. Bellazzini et al., Positive moments for scattering amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 036006 [arXiv:2011.00037] [INSPIRE].
- [64] D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, Snowmass White Paper: The Numerical Conformal Bootstrap, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2203.08117] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D. Baumann and D. Green, The power of locality: primordial non-Gaussianity at the map level, JCAP 08 (2022) 061 [arXiv:2112.14645] [INSPIRE].
- [66] Z. Komargodski and A. Zhiboedov, Convexity and Liberation at Large Spin, JHEP 11 (2013) 140 [arXiv:1212.4103] [INSPIRE].
- [67] D. Green and E. Pajer, On the Symmetries of Cosmological Perturbations, JCAP 09 (2020) 032
 [arXiv:2004.09587] [INSPIRE].
- [68] M. Mirbabayi and M. Simonović, Effective Theory of Squeezed Correlation Functions, JCAP 03 (2016) 056 [arXiv:1507.04755] [INSPIRE].
- [69] L. Di Pietro, V. Gorbenko and S. Komatsu, Analyticity and unitarity for cosmological correlators, JHEP 03 (2022) 023 [arXiv:2108.01695] [INSPIRE].
- [70] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [71] P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, Single field consistency relation for the 3-point function, JCAP 10 (2004) 006 [astro-ph/0407059] [INSPIRE].
- [72] C. Cheung, A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, On the consistency relation of the 3-point function in single field inflation, JCAP 02 (2008) 021 [arXiv:0709.0295] [INSPIRE].
- [73] P. Creminelli, J. Noreña and M. Simonović, Conformal consistency relations for single-field inflation, JCAP 07 (2012) 052 [arXiv:1203.4595] [INSPIRE].
- [74] K. Hinterbichler, L. Hui and J. Khoury, Conformal Symmetries of Adiabatic Modes in Cosmology, JCAP 08 (2012) 017 [arXiv:1203.6351] [INSPIRE].
- [75] J. Martin, H. Motohashi and T. Suyama, Ultra Slow-Roll Inflation and the non-Gaussianity Consistency Relation, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 023514 [arXiv:1211.0083] [INSPIRE].
- [76] R. Flauger, D. Green and R.A. Porto, On squeezed limits in single-field inflation. Part I, JCAP 08 (2013) 032 [arXiv:1303.1430] [INSPIRE].
- [77] Z. Sun, A note on the representations of SO(1, d+1), arXiv:2111.04591 [INSPIRE].
- [78] J. Penedones, K. Salehi Vaziri and Z. Sun, *Hilbert space of Quantum Field Theory in de Sitter spacetime*, arXiv:2301.04146 [INSPIRE].
- [79] M. Mirbabayi and F. Riccardi, Probing de Sitter from the horizon, JHEP 04 (2023) 053 [arXiv:2211.11672] [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Loparco, J. Penedones, K. Salehi Vaziri and Z. Sun, The Källén-Lehmann representation in de Sitter spacetime, JHEP 12 (2023) 159 [arXiv:2306.00090] [INSPIRE].
- [81] I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, Holography from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0907.0151] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A.L. Fitzpatrick, E. Katz, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, Effective Conformal Theory and the Flat-Space Limit of AdS, JHEP 07 (2011) 023 [arXiv:1007.2412] [INSPIRE].
- [83] H. Lee, D. Baumann and G.L. Pimentel, Non-Gaussianity as a Particle Detector, JHEP 12 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1607.03735] [INSPIRE].

- [84] D. Simmons-Duffin, The Conformal Bootstrap, in the proceedings of the Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings, Boulder, U.S.A., June 01–26 (2015) [D0I:10.1142/9789813149441_0001] [arXiv:1602.07982] [INSPIRE].
- [85] A. Higuchi, Forbidden Mass Range for Spin-2 Field Theory in De Sitter Space-time, Nucl. Phys. B 282 (1987) 397 [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. Deser and A. Waldron, Partial masslessness of higher spins in (A)dS, Nucl. Phys. B 607 (2001) 577 [hep-th/0103198] [INSPIRE].
- [87] N. Dalal, O. Doré, D. Huterer and A. Shirokov, The imprints of primordial non-gaussianities on large-scale structure: scale dependent bias and abundance of virialized objects, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 123514 [arXiv:0710.4560] [INSPIRE].
- [88] F. Schmidt and M. Kamionkowski, Halo Clustering with Non-Local Non-Gaussianity, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 103002 [arXiv:1008.0638] [INSPIRE].
- [89] J. Noreña, L. Verde, G. Barenboim and C. Bosch, Prospects for constraining the shape of non-Gaussianity with the scale-dependent bias, JCAP 08 (2012) 019 [arXiv:1204.6324] [INSPIRE].
- [90] D. Baumann, S. Ferraro, D. Green and K.M. Smith, Stochastic Bias from Non-Gaussian Initial Conditions, JCAP 05 (2013) 001 [arXiv:1209.2173] [INSPIRE].
- [91] E. Pajer, F. Schmidt and M. Zaldarriaga, The Observed Squeezed Limit of Cosmological Three-Point Functions, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 083502 [arXiv:1305.0824] [INSPIRE].
- [92] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and F. Schmidt, Galaxy Bias and Primordial Non-Gaussianity, JCAP 12 (2015) 043 [arXiv:1510.03723] [INSPIRE].
- [93] J. Gleyzes, R. de Putter, D. Green and O. Doré, Biasing and the search for primordial non-Gaussianity beyond the local type, JCAP 04 (2017) 002 [arXiv:1612.06366] [INSPIRE].
- [94] SPHEREX collaboration, Cosmology with the SPHEREX All-Sky Spectral Survey, arXiv:1412.4872 [INSPIRE].
- [95] DESI collaboration, A Spectroscopic Road Map for Cosmic Frontier: DESI, DESI-II, Stage-5, arXiv:2209.03585 [INSPIRE].
- [96] D.J. Schlegel et al., The MegaMapper: A Stage-5 Spectroscopic Instrument Concept for the Study of Inflation and Dark Energy, arXiv:2209.04322 [INSPIRE].
- [97] P. McDonald and A. Roy, Clustering of dark matter tracers: generalizing bias for the coming era of precision LSS, JCAP 08 (2009) 020 [arXiv:0902.0991] [INSPIRE].
- [98] V. Desjacques, D. Jeong and F. Schmidt, Large-Scale Galaxy Bias, Phys. Rept. 733 (2018) 1 [arXiv:1611.09787] [INSPIRE].
- [99] A. Strominger, The dS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 10 (2001) 034 [hep-th/0106113] [INSPIRE].
- [100] S. Melville and E. Pajer, Cosmological Cutting Rules, JHEP 05 (2021) 249
 [arXiv:2103.09832] [INSPIRE].
- [101] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri, M.H.G. Lee and E. Pajer, Cutting cosmological correlators, JCAP 08 (2021) 003 [arXiv:2104.06587] [INSPIRE].
- [102] J. Cotler and A. Strominger, The Universe as a Quantum Encoder, arXiv:2201.11658 [INSPIRE].
- [103] J. Cotler and K. Jensen, Isometric Evolution in de Sitter Quantum Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 131 (2023) 211601 [arXiv:2302.06603] [INSPIRE].

- [104] T. Hartman, D. Mazac, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Zhiboedov, Snowmass White Paper: The Analytic Conformal Bootstrap, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2202.11012] [INSPIRE].
- [105] D.M. Hofman and J. Maldacena, Conformal collider physics: Energy and charge correlations, JHEP 05 (2008) 012 [arXiv:0803.1467] [INSPIRE].
- [106] C. Cordova, J. Maldacena and G.J. Turiaci, Bounds on OPE Coefficients from Interference Effects in the Conformal Collider, JHEP 11 (2017) 032 [arXiv:1710.03199] [INSPIRE].
- [107] M. Kologlu, P. Kravchuk, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Zhiboedov, The light-ray OPE and conformal colliders, JHEP 01 (2021) 128 [arXiv:1905.01311] [INSPIRE].